# **RIGA TECHNICAL UNIVERSITY**

Faculty of Civil Engineering Institute of Heat, Gas and Water Technology

# **Aleksejs Prozuments**

Doctoral student of the Study Programme "Heat, Gas and Water Technology"

# LONG-TERM ASSESSMENT METHODOLOGY OF BUILDING STOCK THERMAL ENERGY CONSUMPTION

**Summary of the Doctoral Thesis** 

Scientific supervisor Professor Dr. sc. ing. ANATOLIJS BORODIŅECS

> Scientific consultant Assistant Professor AMY A. KIM

RTU Press Riga 2021 Prozuments, A. Long-Term Assessment Methodology of Building Stock Thermal Energy Consumption. Summary of the Doctoral Thesis. Riga: RTU Press, 2021. 26 p.

Published in accordance with the decision of the Promotion Council "RTU P-12" of 24 November 2020, Minutes No. 5/20.

https://doi.org/10.7250/9789934226205 ISBN 978-9934-22-620-5 (pdf)

# DOCTORAL THESIS PROPOSED TO RIGA TECHNICAL UNIVERSITY FOR THE PROMOTION TO THE SCIENTIFIC DEGREE OF DOCTOR OF SCIENCE

To be granted the scientific degree of Doctor of Science (Ph. D.), the present Doctoral Thesis has been submitted for the defence at the open meeting of RTU Promotion Council on 28 May 2021 at 13:00 online.

#### OFFICIAL REVIEWERS

Professor Dr. sc. ing. Aleksandrs Korjakins, Riga Technical University, Latvia

Professor Dr. sc. ing. Lilita Ozola, Latvia University of Life Sciences and Technologies, Latvia

Professor Dr. sc. ing. Nikolai Vatin, Peter the Great St.Petersburg Polytechnic University, Russia

### DECLARATION OF ACADEMIC INTEGRITY

I hereby declare that the Doctoral Thesis submitted for the review to Riga Technical University for the promotion to the scientific degree of Doctor of Science (Ph. D.) is my own. I confirm that this Doctoral Thesis had not been submitted to any other university for the promotion to a scientific degree.

Aleksejs Prozuments

Date: .....

The Doctoral Thesis is written in English. It consists of Introduction; 10 chapters; Conclusions; 28 figures; 27 table; the total number of pages is 104. The Bibliography contains 121 titles.

# CONTENTS

1.	INTRODUCTION	5
2.	GENERAL DESCRIPTION	6
3.	LITERATURE REVIEW	7
4.	METHODOLOGY	9
	4.1. Generalized Methodology	9
	4.2. Identification of the Input Parameters	12
	4.3. The Overview and the Timeline of Modeled Scenarios	13
	4.4. Building Stock Development Projection	14
	4.5. Building Prototype Model Development	15
5.	RESULTS AND DISCUSSION	17
6.	CONCLUSIONS	20
RE	COMMENDATIONS AND FURTHER STUDIES	22
LIS	ST OF PUBLICATIONS	23
RE	FERENCES	25

### **1. INTRODUCTION**

Nowadays new construction projects are looked at from a rather market-driven and sustainability-oriented viewpoint, considering that buildings provide temporary or permanent living environment and are major energy consumers. As a matter of fact, the building sector accounts for approximately 40 % of total final energy use across the developed countries, constituting up to one-third of the worldwide greenhouse gas emissions. Therefore, energy efficient buildings imply not only significant cost savings in the long run due to lower energy consumption but also an added market value and a "green label" associated with the owners and stakeholders, instituting a positive image and public relation reference.

As such, building energy efficiency has been a priority topic for both micro- and macroscale stakeholders. The micro-scale aspect introduces cost savings to the building owners and stakeholders via implementation of energy-related government and local incentive programs and thus lower building operating expenses; the macro-scale aspect urges governments and building owners to meet the regulations on  $CO_2$  emissions and comply with the international regulations that may ultimately lead to significant financial savings and allow to relocate the stakeholders' financial resources to develop other priority areas on agenda.

Building energy efficiency is a dynamically and rapidly growing field and has effectively become a separate industry and research area over recent decades, as it requires an involvement of highly skilled professionals and continuous research and development activities. In line with the industry's growth, the market availability and promotion of sustainable and energy-efficient products and solutions increases. This development is in large part driven by national and regional energy and environmental building codes and regulations. Regulatory building codes have proven to be an effective way to promote energy efficiency in buildings. Many governments across the world have put forward nationwide long-term energy use reduction goals for newly constructed and existing building stock that are reinforced by stringent UN regulations aimed at addressing environmental impact and climate change.

The research work is based on the hypothesis that the long-term thermal energy savings in residential, public and industrial buildings can be evaluated by developing a methodology to determine various building energy efficiency upgrades at individual and building-scale level.

The present Doctoral Thesis examines the currently adapted strategies aimed at improving energy efficiency of the building stock in Latvia and their projected effect over the next decade.

Within the scope of this Doctoral Thesis an evaluation methodology of the building stock thermal performance and future savings potential under various thermal energy performance protocols is developed and adapted to the Latvian context.

### 2. GENERAL DESCRIPTION

**Topicality.** Building sector is a major energy consumer accounting for approximately 40 % of total final energy use across the developed countries, and therefore it holds a substantial energy saving potential via energy consumption optimization measures. Upgrading building energy efficiency contributes to the reduction of energy consumption that in turn leads to lowering environmental impact and significant cost savings in the long run.

**Objectives and main tasks.** The aim of this study is to develop a comprehensive and widely applicable evaluation methodology (research subject) of the building stock thermal consumption and future energy savings potential under various thermal energy performance protocols. The scope of the study encompasses thermal energy performance evaluation of residential, public and industrial buildings. As such, the present study aims to contribute to the research on the subject of building energy efficiency by presenting a methodology of evaluating thermal energy saving potential in the long run across different building categories when adhering to various thermal energy compliance scenarios across broad regional spectrum.

**Scientific novelty.** This work introduces a comprehensive methodology for the evaluation of potential thermal energy savings upon implementation of various building energy efficiency upgrades. Currently existing tools do not stipulate evaluation of building renovation strategies across individual scale and building scale components over a long run. Moreover, there is a lack of validated comparative calculation tools for stakeholder use to evaluate building energy efficiency renovation strategies across individual scale components.

The methodology presented in this work, on the other hand, allows to compare and prioritize strategies to develop streamlined approach for regional and national building stock energy efficiency roadmaps. It is applicable across wide regional spectrum encompassing mild and cold climate regions to evaluate potential thermal energy savings across the building stock of interest over the extended timeframe while applying various building energy consumption reduction protocols.

**Practical application.** The developed methodology is primarily intended for the stakeholders such as building industry professionals and policy makers in developing national building stock energy efficiency roadmaps and in reviewing regulatory environment related to the building stock energy efficiency.

The methodology is particularly useful for governments and public entities experiencing challenges with the existing building stock's compromised energy performance and facing uncertainty over implications resulting from stringent policy measures.

**Approbation.** The findings and the results of this study have been presented at 5 international conferences with the conference proceedings indexed in Scopus/WOS databases.

### **3. LITERATURE REVIEW**

Buildings in the EU-28 (as of Q3 of 2020) [1] account for approximately 55 % of total electricity consumption and roughly 40 % of total final energy consumption on average [2], [3]. Followed by transport and industry, the building industry is the third largest end-use energy sector in Europe. In Latvia, Estonia and Hungary buildings' energy use share is even higher (45 % to 50 %) due to the poor energy performance of the existing building stock that was built during and slightly after World War II (1945-1980) and is now obsolete with regards to meeting energy performance criteria [4]. Up until 2002 buildings in Latvia were designed in accordance with the USSR (Union of Soviet Socialist Republics) regulatory codes which were not stringent enough with regards to energy performance [5]. As a result, the bulk of the existing building stock that has not undergone deep renovation features poor thermal insulation, excessive outdoor air infiltration and condensation occurrence within the external wall structures [6]. Moreover, the absolute majority of the post-Soviet buildings (constructed between 1945 and 1991 when Latvia was part of the USSR) lack proper mechanical ventilation system, and thus the air exchange occurs primarily due to natural ventilation and/or outdoor air infiltration through the external elements (walls and roofs), which entails major thermal energy losses [7]. Other major sources of heat loss featured in the existing old buildings in Latvia are linear thermal bridges, window frames and single pane glazing.

Even though there are often rigid technological interventions implemented to cut energy consumption in buildings (e.g. added insulation layer, HVAC system installation or retrofit), regular systems' maintenance is often the key to reduce energy demand in buildings. To facilitate the implementation of energy efficiency measures in the early stages of building design, planning and management, a relevant education and professional training has to be ensured. This highlights the importance of embedding energy efficiency strategies as an integral part of the building construction phase, rather than an add-on. Also, more active and target-oriented communication between policy makers and building stakeholders (building professionals, contractors, designers, clients, end-users, etc.) is required to address the barriers related to non-functional regulation and poor interest [8].

Over the recent years the policies for the support of energy efficiency upgrades in buildings have been becoming more stringent, emphasizing the importance of running the feasibility study of the planned measures at the early building retrofit design stage in order to reach projected energy goals with clear economic sense [9]. Energy savings due to retrofits vary widely depending on the applied energy efficiency techniques, building's initial condition and climate. For instance, energy efficiency measures for households can reduce energy bills by 30 % with respect to their original energy consumption [10]. However, there are certain socioeconomic and technical barriers that slow down the faster implementation of energy efficiency strategies in buildings, such as timeline of return on investment for the stakeholders, accurate monitoring, reporting, verification and quality assurance of the implemented retrofits [11]. To facilitate successful building energy efficiency and retrofit programs, governments have to develop mandatory policies and present effective financing mechanisms as well as to ensure that industry does not lack highly qualified building

professionals [12]. When stakeholders take the responsibility for building energy renovation project, a set of interventions are to be carried out considering individual energy profile of each single building subjected to renovation.

The EU has set an improvement of energy efficiency in buildings as one of the target actions to meet the regions' long term environmental, economical, and geopolitical development goals. The Energy Performance of Buildings Directive [13] sets the energy use objectives and optimal cost criteria to the individual building renovation.

The literature review section encompasses a wide spectrum of recently published articles on the topic of the building energy efficiency. Although the studies in the literature review section has an emphasis on the status and strategies of the building energy performance in the EU region, it also provides an insight into other regions across the world.

The reviewed articles provide a global standpoint on the importance and a long-term benefit of upgrading, renovating the existing building stock and having new buildings designed, constructed, operated, and maintained in an energy efficient way. The reviewed literature also emphasizes the importance of energy performance improvement and monitoring strategies through clear and thoroughly designed government policies, skilled taskforce, favorable investment environment and regular public campaigns.

However, the reviewed literature sources do not provide meaningful insight and distinctive quantitative metrics with regards to economic feasibility and efficiency of various building energy renovation measures over a long term timespan. Moreover, there is a lack of references in the reviewed literature containing any validated comparative calculation tools for stakeholder use to evaluate building energy efficiency renovation strategies across individual scale and building scale components.

Therefore, to address the subject of stakeholder-friendly building stock energy efficiency evaluation tool for new construction and renovation projects, this study introduces a methodology for evaluation of the potential thermal energy savings upon implementation of various building energy efficiency upgrades that is applicable across the building stock of interest over the extended timeframe. As such, the proposed methodology fills the gap in the currently existing tools and scientific literature on the subject of building stock thermal energy conservation potential by providing a straightforward analytical long term projection tool for stakeholders such as building owners, operators, facility managers, utilities, investors, etc.

### 4. METHODOLOGY

#### 4.1. Generalized Methodology

In pursuance of the outlined objectives set forward within the framework of this study, namely, to design a thorough thermal energy performance assessment tool of the building stock that would evaluate future potential energy savings under various building thermal energy consumption compliance scenarios, a comprehensive methodology was developed. The proposed methodology allows for a long-term building stock thermal energy performance evaluation of various types of buildings (residential, public, industrial, military, etc.) across the regions where the demand for space heating is present. A worklist consists of multiple interdisciplinary steps that are outlined in the flowchart in Fig. 4.1.

The presented flowchart is applicable to general cases with input parameters and criteria entered by an authorized user. In this context, an "authorized user" is any stakeholder that employs the proposed methodology to run thermal energy savings calculation on a national or regional scale that is subject to present a decision-making significance (e.g., for financial risk evaluation, return-on-investment assessment, nationwide infrastructure development project feasibility study, etc.). The stakeholders deemed as authorized users may include but are not limited to energy utilities, power companies, government institutions, financial institutions, investment groups, city developers, architects, etc. Once the user applies their input data in the methodology, the tool translates it into adapted methodology, i.e., linked to a specific case study.



Fig. 4.1. Generalized flowchart of building stock thermal performance evaluation methodology.

At an input phase, it is essential that the dataset pertaining to the building stock of interest is accurate (and preferably validated by dataset provider or a third party) to avoid excessive deviations and errors from the real case when developing the building prototype models and building stock development projection further in the data analysis and processing phase.

At the output phase, the proposed methodology generates an annual thermal energy consumption calculation for the whole building stock of the particular building category (e.g., residential), by multiplying the annual energy consumption criteria by the total floor area of the building category within the reviewed geographic region.

As the input data directly affects the accuracy and credibility of the output, this study also emphasizes the magnitude behind understanding the degree of the efficiency of the design guidelines and/or regulatory building codes and outlines the importance of controlling both the individual and the building-scale parameters that are frequently addressed in the regulatory environment.

Figure 4.2 summarizes how the design criteria (outlined in technical guidelines or regulatory building codes) pertaining to the building energy efficiency subject set the requirements for individual and building-scale parameters. In other words, the individual scale parameters are controlled at an input level of the building design (*U*-values of external building envelopes, etc.) and the building systems design (VAV system for HVAC, low energy lighting, etc.), while the building-scale energy efficiency and energy conservation parameters are set as output criteria in the form of total building energy consumption requirements (as max  $kWh/m^2$ ) and/or minimum share of on-site renewables (% of energy produced from solar, wind, geothermal, etc.).



Fig. 4.2. Comparison of controlling individual and building-scale parameters within the regulatory building codes.

A comparative analysis of the presented approaches in Fig. 4.2 is compiled in Table 4.1, where advantages and disadvantages of each strategy are outlined in detail.

#### Table 4.1

Control of individ	ual parameters	Control of building-scale parameters		
Advantages	Disadvantages	Advantages	Disadvantages	
Every individual building element has a certain performance criterion to comply with, making this approach clear and straightforward	The inefficiency of an "underperforming" building element cannot be compensated by an efficiency of an "overperforming" element	Convenient metric for setting and monitoring building energy use	In some instances, it may be difficult to comply with (in buildings of specific use, shape, design, etc.), and control of individual parameters is suggested instead	
Compliance with energy performance criteria for individual parameters often leads to higher level of building efficiency if compared to the building- scale parameter approach	Limited possibilities to adopt alternative solutions and to implement stringent requirements for historic buildings	The inefficiency of an "underperforming" building element can be compensated by an efficiency of an "overperforming" element	Occupant comfort may be significantly compromised, as this approach may result in low IAQ and overheating of indoor spaces in the summer due to low energy operation mode of HVAC system	
This approach usually ensures higher IAQ and occupant comfort	Limited architectural design options	From a stakeholder/FM standpoint – meeting the kWh/m <sup>2</sup> and/or % of RE criteria is the ultimate goal (no need to seek for strategies beyond this benchmark)	This approach may result in high indoor humidity level and condensation occurrence on the surfaces of the external construction elements due to insufficient air exchange rate	
Limits designers' ability to adjust individual systems' parameters therefore ensuring each individual system's compliance with the outlined requirements		Even after the target is met, building's energy efficiency can be improved further by upgrading building's individual parameters and systems		

A Comparative Analysis of Controlling Individual Parameters and Building-Scale Parameters

In broader terms, this study aims to underline the importance of controlling both the individual and building-scale parameters, as focusing on addressing just one single criterion may lead to a negative trade-off in the other criteria. For instance, according to Table 4.1, setting the max energy consumption criteria for the whole building may result in the deterioration of the indoor environmental quality by:

- a) compromising indoor air quality or leading to overheating of indoor spaces in the summer due to low energy operation mode of the HVAC system [14];
- b) leading to high indoor humidity level and causing condensation occurrence on the surfaces of the external construction elements due to an insufficient air exchange rate [15].

While the present study incorporates solely the control of annual energy consumption  $(kWh/m^2)$  in its methodology, which is a building-scale parameter, the developed methodology and the study results can be expanded further to perform analysis on the effect of setting various scenarios for individual scale parameters or setting the minimum energy input share from renewable energy sources.

As such, the generalized methodology presented in this study can be applied to any region across the world requiring space heating in the cold season after the acquisition and thorough

evaluation of the critical input parameters (such as building energy efficiency criteria, building stock data, etc.).

### 4.2. Identification of the Input Parameters

The generalized long-term evaluation methodology of building stock thermal energy performance was adapted to the case of Latvia, which entailed modifications in the generalized methodology through the following activities:

- 1) identifying local regulatory building codes that determine and provide feasible metrics with regards to the buildings' thermal energy performance;
- 2) proposing three building thermal energy performance compliance scenarios based on the identified regulatory codes (reference, normal, nZEB scenario);
- 3) obtaining the dataset on Latvian building stock from 2014 to 2019 and arranging the dataset by new construction and major renovation projects;
- based on the acquired historic building stock data and economic forecast analysis for construction market, designing a projection matrix for the building stock development up till 2030;
- 5) developing computed models for residential, public and industrial building set that would represent statistically averaged building prototypes for each of the building category (acquired from Building Information System database);
- 6) applying the designed building stock development projection matrix to the modeled building prototypes in order to establish building stock thermal energy consumption profiles for each of the proposed scenarios.



Fig. 4.3. Methodology flowchart adapted to the case of Latvia.

As specified, the flowchart presents a methodology adapted and elaborated for the case of Latvia, reviewing the relevant regulatory environment and utilizing the respective national building stock dataset.

### 4.3. The Overview and the Timeline of Modeled Scenarios

The three building thermal energy consumption scenarios reviewed and analyzed within the scope of the proposed methodology (baseline, normal, nZEB) were designed based on various compliance criteria and are presented in Table 4.2.

Table 4.2

Reference		Notes		
Scenario 1	Baseline	Building thermal energy consumption is calculated according to LBN 002-01 requirements, assuming that these requirements were effective as of today (disregarding LBN 002-15 that came in place on 2016).		
Scenario 2	Normal	Building thermal energy consumption for 2014–2015 period is calculated according to LBN 002-01 (in line with the baseline scenario), 2016 onwards – according to LBN 002-15.		
Scenario 3	nZEB*	Building thermal energy consumption develops in line with Scenario 2 until 2016, from 2017 new buildings comply with Cab. Reg. 383, following the requirements attributable to nearly zero energy buildings development concept.		
Projection		Building thermal energy consumption development across the three scenarios is projected over the course of 2020–2030, considering the dynamics of construction industry, investment climate, national economy growth projections, EU funding and other factors.		

Overview of the Modeled Scenarios

\* nZEB – nearly zero energy building.

The timespan for the reviewed scenarios starts with 2014, as there have not been any major regulatory interventions between 2001 (the introduction of LBN 002-01) and 2015 (the substitution of LBN 002-01 with LBN 002-15, which was subsequently replaced by LBN 002-19 overriding the normative heat transmittance coefficients with their maximum threshold values) to address the reduction of building thermal energy consumption on a national scale, and therefore the three scenarios would follow the identical path. Moreover, the nZEB scenario begins to factor in only starting with 2017.



Fig. 4.4. The illustrative framework of the reviewed scenarios.

The calculation of thermal energy consumption was performed according to the "Methodology for Calculating the Energy Performance of a Building" [16]. Yet, to obtain the

necessary input data in order to apply the methodology over an extended projection timeframe 2020–2030, a separate building stock development projection analysis had to be carried out.

### 4.4. Building Stock Development Projection

In order to assess thermal energy savings due to the compliance with the reviewed regulatory building codes over the proposed timeline that extends to 2030, it was necessary to develop a building stock growth projection matrix, considering various boundary conditions. Assuming that the regulatory building codes would remain constant (the control variable), it was necessary to define the projection for the housing stock development (the dependent variable). This task involved identifying the key factors (variables) that affect building stock development over a long run:

- expert forecasts (economic forecasts, construction industry development trends) (v<sub>1</sub>);
- EU funding projections (currently available and new financial tools) (*v*<sub>2</sub>);
- national progress report (v<sub>3</sub>);
- business and investment environment (v<sub>4</sub>);
- real estate market (v<sub>5</sub>);
- availability of mortgage (private housing loans) (v<sub>6</sub>);
- commercial and industrial loans (v<sub>7</sub>);
- regional development roadmaps and programs (v<sub>8</sub>);
- demographic analysis (v<sub>9</sub>);
- error margin  $(\pm 5 \%)$  ( $\varepsilon$ ).

The building stock development projection matrix compiles wide ranging and complex dependent factors representing the growth dynamics and comprehensive forecast analysis. Adapting the regular analysis method, the building stock development projection  $(BSD_{\text{projection}})$  can be mathematically expressed in terms of a function in which the above listed factors serve as dependent variables  $(v_1, ..., v_9)$ :

$$BSD_{\text{projection}} = f(v_1, v_2, \dots, v_9, \varepsilon).$$
(4.1)

The aforementioned variables  $(v_1, ..., v_9)$  directly and indirectly impact the construction industry dynamics, therefore compiling them altogether into one projection matrix involved a third-party verification in form of a repetitive procedure of proposing, discussing, adjusting and reviewing the designed matrix. This procedure involved a series of iterations until the proposed projection matrix was approved and authorized by a third party (Ministry of Economics of the Republic of Latvia).

Based on the above listed factors and determinants that will influence the industry's growth within the next decade, the building stock development projection for 2019–2030 timeline was designed. The three main building stock categories were singled out:

- residential (single and multiapartment buildings, individual households);
- public (government institutions, offices, hotels, hospitals, schools, kindergartens, etc.);
- industrial (production facilities, manufacturing, and power plants, etc.).

Building stock relative growth referenced against previous year, %						
Year Residential		Public	Industrial	Comments		
2020	+5.0	+5.0	+2.5	Development dynamics continue at a steady rate		
2021	+2.5	+2.5	+1.25	As the new planning period approaches, building industry's growth gradually slows down		
2022	+2.5	+2.5	+1.25	As the new planning period approaches, building industry's growth gradually slows down		
2023	+2.5	+2.5	+1.25	As the new planning period approaches, building industry's growth gradually slows down		
2024	-10.0	-10.0	-5.0	Transition to the new planning period, the building industry experiences temporary decline		
2025	-5.0	-5.0	-2.5	Transition to the new planning period, the building industry experiences temporary decline		
2026	+2.5	+2.5	+1.25	As a result of new EU funding and rise in investment, building industry starts to recover		
2027	+2.5	+2.5	+1.25	Though slowly, the recovery continues and attracts more mid-term and long-term investment sources		
2028	+5.0	+5.0	+2.5	The industry stabilizes and the growth continues at a steady rate		
2029	+5.0	+5.0	+2.5	The industry stabilizes and the growth continues at a steady rate		
2030	+5.0	+5.0	+2.5	The industry stabilizes and the growth continues at a steady rate		

Building Stock Development Projection Matrix for 2020–2030

#### 4.5. Building Prototype Model Development

As there is no publicly available database containing construction data and energy performance characteristics of each individual building constituting all existing Latvian building stock, thorough and detailed prototype models had to be developed that would represent a typical residential, public and industrial building. The initial dataset on 113 residential, 41 public and 19 industrial buildings was acquired from building information system's database to develop typical building prototype models for all of the three categories. Furthermore, building prototype model development was necessary to run thermal energy consumption calculation for the reviewed building stock, as each building category had different structural characteristics and requirements with regards to building design, materials, heat transfer coefficients, indoor comfort level and other parameters affecting building's thermal balance.

The standardized heat transfer coefficients of building construction elements largely define the thermal energy consumption of a building and therefore are at the base of the thermal energy consumption equation. These coefficients differ across the three building categories and are defined by the Latvian Construction Standard LBN 002-15 (overridden by LBN 002-19). The required annual thermal energy (kWh/m<sup>2</sup>) for each building prototype was calculated in accordance with Cab. Reg. No. 348, which is referred to in LBN 002-15.

Table 4.4

Defining parameter	Residential	Public	Industrial
Total effective floor area $A$ , m <sup>2</sup>	2462.50	12 485.42	3793.80
The average floor-to-ceiling height <i>h</i> , m	2.5	3.0	6.0
Total effective volume $V_{\rm eff}$ , m <sup>3</sup>	6156.25	37 456.26	22 762.8
Indoor setpoint temperature for heating $T_{in}$ , °C	19.0	19.0	17.0
Air exchange rate <i>n</i> , 1/h	0.55	1.50	2.00
Total air exchange volume $V_{air}$ , m <sup>3</sup> /h	3385.90	56 184.40	45 525.60
Internal heat gains in heating season $Q_{\text{int}}$ , kWh/m <sup>2</sup>	37.0	39.9	39.9
Total solar heat gains in heating season $Q_{sol}$ , kWh/m <sup>2</sup>	13.0	13.2	13.2
Heat gain coefficient n	0.86	0.86	0.86
Longevity of a heating period $D_{heat}$ , days	205.8	205.8	205.8
Average outdoor temperature $T_{out}$ , °C	-0.57	-0.57	-0.57

The annual thermal energy consumption (kWh) across the given timeline for each building category (residential, public, industrial) was determined by calculating specific thermal energy consumption (kWh/m<sup>2</sup>) and compiling statistical data (historic) on the building stock (m<sup>2</sup>), separating new construction and renovated buildings.

Thus, the annual thermal energy demand ( $E_{annual}$ ) for a prototype building (kWh/m<sup>2</sup>) can be determined by the following equation [16]:

$$E_{\text{annual}} = \frac{\sum U_i A_i + \sum \psi_j l_j + \sum \chi_k + (V_{\text{air}} c) \cdot 24D_{\text{heat}}(T_{\text{in}} - T_{\text{out}})}{1000A} - \eta (Q_{\text{int}} + Q_{\text{sol}}), \qquad (4.2)$$

where  $U_i$  – heat transfer coefficient of the building construction element, W/(m<sup>2</sup>K);

 $A_i$  – the area of the respective construction element of the building prototype model, m<sup>2</sup>;

 $\Psi_j$  – heat transfer coefficient of the linear thermal bridge, W/(m·K);

 $l_j$  – length of the linear thermal bridge, m;

 $\chi_k$  – heat transfer coefficient of the point thermal bridge, W/K;

 $V_{\rm air}$  – ventilation air volumetric flowrate, m<sup>3</sup>/h;

c – air heat capacity per volume, c = 0.34, Wh/(m<sup>3</sup>K);

 $D_{\text{heat}}$  – number of heating days;

 $T_{in}$  – average set-point temperature in the assessment (heating or cooling) period, °C;

 $T_{out}$  – average external temperature in the calculation period, °C;

A – total floor area of the building, m<sup>2</sup>;

 $\eta$  – gain use coefficient for heating in accordance with EN ISO 13790:2009 L [17];

 $Q_{\text{int}}$  – interior gains of the whole building in the assessment period t, Wh;

 $Q_{\rm sol}$  – solar heat gains of the whole building in the assessment period t, Wh.

### 5. RESULTS AND DISCUSSION

The results of the proposed methodology to evaluate long-term potential thermal energy savings under normal and nZEB scenarios referenced against the baseline scenario suggest, as expected, that the highest thermal energy savings in public and industrial buildings would be generated under nZEB scenario, whereas in residential buildings normal and nZEB scenarios would represent somewhat similar savings potential.

As a matter of fact, up until 2027 slightly greater savings in residential buildings would occur under normal scenario (134.89 GWh > 131.33 GWh), whereas in public and industrial buildings nZEB scenario kicks in early and as a result is projected to generate significantly higher annual thermal energy savings starting with 2017 (with the advent of Cab. Reg. no. 383). As such, by 2030 the potential cumulative savings for residential buildings under both scenarios are projected to differ by a very narrow margin (173.26 GWh at normal; 185.30 GWh at nZEB).

As for public buildings, the results indicate that significant difference between normal and nZEB scenarios begins to evolve in 2017 and remains a constant multiplier over the timespan between 2020 and 2030 throughout which a fixed nZEB criterion for public buildings sets in (energy consumption criterion of 118.30 kWh/m<sup>2</sup> under Scenario 2 and 45.00 kWh/m<sup>2</sup> under Scenario 3).

Similarly to the energy consumption and cumulative savings relation under normal and nZEB scenarios observed in public buildings, the curve for industrial buildings demonstrate a steep and continuous increase in potential savings if nZEB scenario takes place. On the contrary, normal scenario develops a continuous yet very gradual curve. Thus, when it comes to industrial buildings, nZEB scenario would generate 632.63 GWh of thermal energy savings, while the normal scenario would only provide 84.89 GWh of total thermal energy savings by 2030.

Figures 5.1 and 5.2 show the cumulative savings in residential, public and industrial buildings over the timeline of 2014–2030 under normal and nZEB scenarios.



Fig. 5.1. Cumulative thermal energy savings in buildings under Scenario 2.



Fig. 5.2. Cumulative thermal energy savings in buildings under Scenario 3.

Scenario 3 presents substantially wider gaps among the curves representing cumulative thermal energy savings for each of the building category, with the industrial sector constituting the largest share of total cumulative savings (>50 %). However, this scenario entails very rigid energy efficiency interventions and is deemed as rather over-optimistic and may deviate quite extensively from the real case scenario, as the energy certification is a voluntary measure and incurs thorough actions and significant investments in relation with meeting energy efficiency criteria set by the regulation [18].

Another complexity stems from the factor that a limiting building-scale parameter instead of individual scale parameter (as per nZEB case) disregards the individual building's specifics, unique features, or exceptional factors attributable to its functional characteristics. If focus is solely addressed at achieving nZEB requirements in the reviewed building stock, several challenges can be identified. The short-term challenge is to match the energy performance of the design model with the completed building as closely as possible. In other words, the actual energy performance of the building has to meet the requirements set at the design stage to ensure steady energy performance over the extended timespan and under unforeseen conditions [19], i.e., securing a certain degree of resiliency with regards to daily building operations and reliable power delivery [20]. The long-term challenge of imposing building-scale parameter rather than addressing building's energy performance at individual element level is the capability of buildings to respond to changes that incur from ageing over the building's lifespan, retaining environmental and socioeconomic sustainability of a building [21].

In that regard, a normal scenario offers seemingly more feasible and thereby more credible development roadmap, as it addresses individual scale parameters in buildings, namely, heat transfer coefficients of the external building elements. This scenario, however, would not incur substantial energy savings in the long run, as the thermal performance requirements imposed by LBN 002-15 standard are designed to meet solely the minimum thermal performance requirements of a building envelope [18], [22].

The approach proposed by the normal scenario is limited to applying maximum heat transfer coefficient requirements to the external elements of a building, yet, supplemented by policies addressing low energy consumption practices, the potential savings in residential and public buildings may increase significantly [23].

Along with the improvements in the design of the building envelope to further reduce thermal energy consumption in buildings, the operation and efficiency of mechanical systems and indoor appliances need to be addressed. Deep renovation measures entail retrofit packages that may generate different outcomes depending on the applied package and type of the building [24], [25]. For instance, hospitals, laboratories, and military facilities may require enhanced ventilation system and heavy-duty ventilation equipment to comply with the specific requirements set for the operation of these buildings [26]. These considerations, however, are not within the scope of this work, as this study primarily evaluates the long-term impact of applying different regulatory code compliant building energy performance scenarios.

# 6. CONCLUSIONS

- 1. Following the outlined preconditions and considering the error assessment, the methodology of evaluating thermal energy saving potential across residential, public and industrial building stock in Latvia was developed over the timeline of 2014–2030 roadmapping the potential thermal energy savings for newly constructed and renovated buildings at different energy consumption compliance scenarios.
- 2. The building stock development projection matrix suggests a gradual increase in the new construction and renovation projects over the next years that will continue a linear upward trend over the next decade with minor stagnation in 2024–2025 induced by a transition to a new planning period that is expected to backlash as an uncertainty among investors and other construction industry stakeholders. Nevertheless, it is projected that the construction sector will be recovering at a steady rate from this slight stagnation and will reach a firm growth level by 2030.
- 3. The positive building stock development curve translates into the building industry being at the central role for strategies targeting energy conservation measures. Building energy efficiency and the associated long-term benefits has been an emphasis for building owners, operators, facility management and customers, i.e., end-users.
- 4. The study results highlight that regulatory building codes are an effective policy measure for reducing energy consumption in buildings. It is noted, however, that roadmapping one particular scenario across the whole reviewed building stock is not an optimum concept over the long term in pursuit of achieving higher energy savings, as it can be rather challenging to maintain the economic feasibility while complying with the imposed energy performance criteria.
- 5. Many countries have been adopting more stringent building energy codes over time, which have resulted in more efficient and market-appealing building stock. Yet, the findings of the current study along with the reviewed literature within this work suggest that exclusive adherence to local building regulatory standards or government-imposed building energy efficiency policies do not guarantee the most energy efficient buildings.
- 6. While the newly constructed buildings have to meet certain energy criteria applied to the whole building without particular focus to single components (individual scale parameters) from the regulatory standpoint, to reduce energy consumption in renovated buildings, an individual scale approach is more reasonable. It allows for energy efficiency improvement through replacing or adding new building components, such as windows, adding thermal insulation layer to the external envelopes, upgrading HVAC system, adding building automation system, etc.
- 7. The calculation results of cumulative thermal energy savings show that Scenario 2 would generate 367.34 GWh of thermal energy offset by 2030, while Scenario 3 would result in 1150.26 GWh of generated thermal energy savings by 2030. Though, the substantial savings presented in Scenario 3 would be generated largely due to strict and difficult-to-implement energy efficiency criteria (for public and industrial buildings in particular), which ultimately may not be feasible from the economic perspective. Scenario 3 roadmaps

a nearly zero energy building (nZEB) pathway, which is a hard-to-reach goal at the current state of the existing building stock, regional and local regulatory environment, stakeholder interest (such as investors and building owners) and stakeholder preparedness (such as building contractors, architects, designers and engineers). As such, Scenario 3 presents a rather unlikely projection path, given the difficulties it poses to the stakeholders and consequently the potential threat to cause a slow-down, or even, a stagnation in the building industry's growth, which will in turn negatively impact the investment attractiveness, job market, national GDP and overall economic growth rate of the country in the long run. It is important to note, however, that the development dynamics of the construction industry may take a different path and, as a result, the cumulative energy savings may deviate to a rather high degree from those presented in the current study.

8. Even though there is a number of well-known prescribed technological interventions implemented to cut energy consumption in buildings (e.g., added insulation layer, HVAC system installation or retrofit), regular and on-going maintenance is often the key to reduce energy consumption in buildings or to keep it at the designed levels. To facilitate the implementation of energy efficiency measures in the early stages of building design, planning and management, a relevant education and professional training has to be ensured. A number of EU member states have announced their nationwide long-term strategies to improve energy performance of buildings and to reduce greenhouse gas emissions. These efforts include multiple interdisciplinary steps such as a) continuous preparation of highly skilled building energy efficiency professionals; b) education campaigns and basic training programs for non-professionals; c) building energy performance monitoring and energy auditing; d) establishing clear and attainable regulatory environment; e) setting and adhering to national approaches on low energy buildings as a supplementary enforcement measure; f) identification of all financial instruments available to perform either building energy performance auditing or implement certain energy efficiency strategies.

### **RECOMMENDATIONS AND FURTHER STUDIES**

It is important to note that the proposed methodology is not limited to the scope of the current study and can be further elaborated to address specific reference conditions.

Continuous energy auditing of the existing building stock in line with expanding the focus beyond residential and public building sector is going to contribute significantly for future research work in this field. Furthermore, as building energy performance regulations across developed countries are getting stricter, addressing technical aspects of the building envelope alone may not continue to ensure significant energy conservation effects.

Therefore, in future more attention is going to be drawn towards stricter regulations in relation to building operation and maintenance, building equipment, mechanical systems, etc.

### LIST OF PUBLICATIONS

- Prozuments, A., Kim, A. & Borodinecs, A. Evaluation of the Building Stock Thermal Performance Under Various Building Code Compliance Scenarios: The Case of Latvia. ASCE- Construction Research Congress. Tempe, Arizona. March 2020.
- Prozuments, A., Borodiņecs, A., Odiņeca, T., Nemova, D. Long-Term Buildings' Space Heating Estimation Method. In: Proceedings of EECE 2019. Lecture Notes in Civil Engineering. Vol. 70. Cham: Springer, 2020. pp. 539–550. ISBN 978-3-030-42350-6. e-ISBN 978-3-030-42351-3. ISSN 2366-2557. Available from: doi:10.1007/978-3-030-42351-3\_47
- Borodinecs A., Geikins A., Prozuments A. (2020) Energy Consumption and Retrofitting Potential of Latvian Unclassified Buildings. In: Littlewood J., Howlett R., Capozzoli A., Jain L. (eds) Sustainability in Energy and Buildings. Smart Innovation, Systems and Technologies, vol. 163. Springer, Singapore
- 4. Prozuments, A, Borodinecs, A. B, Zemitis, J., Strelets, K. The effect of the air duct tightness on the stability of the indoor air parameters. Magazine of Civil Engineering. 2020. 97(5). Article No. 9710. DOI: 10.18720/MCE.97.10
- Borodiņecs, A., Prozuments, A., Zajecs, D., Bebre, G. Hydrothermal Performance of the External Wooded Frame Wall Structure Reinforced with Ballistic Panels. In: 12th Nordic Symposium on Building Physics (NSB 2020), Estonia, Tallinn, 6–9 September 2020. Igaunija: E3S Web of Conferences, 2020, pp. 1–8. ISSN 2555-0403. Available from: doi:10.1051/e3sconf/202017207005
- Prozuments A., Borodinecs A., Zajacs A., Zemitis J. Retrofitting of fire stations in cold climate regions. Magazine of Civil Engineering. 2019. No. 06, pp. 85–92. doi: 10.18720/MCE.90.8
- Kim, Amy & Wang, Shuoqi & McCunn, Lindsay & Prozuments, Aleksejs & Swanson, Troy & Lokan, Kim. (2019). Commissioning the Acoustical Performance of an Open Office Space Following the Latest Healthy Building Standard: A Case Study. Acoustics. 1. 473–492. 10.3390/acoustics1030027.
- Borodiņecs, A., Bogdanovičs, R., Prozuments, A., Tihana, J., Gaujēna, B. Evaluation of Hybrid Heating Systems with a Combination of Fossil and Renewable Energy Sources. IOP Conference Series: Earth and Environmental Science, 2019, Vol. 297, pp. 1–6. ISSN 1755-1307. e-ISSN 1755-1315. Available from: doi:10.1088/1755-1315/297/1/012050
- Prozuments, A., Borodiņecs, A., Križmane, M. A Review Study on Specific Requirements for Refurbishment of Military Buildings in Cold Climates. In: IOP Conference Series: Materials Science and Engineering, Latvia, Riga, 25–27 September 2019. IOP Publishing, 2019, pp. 1–10. ISSN 1757-8981. Available from: doi:10.1088/1757-899X/660/1/012016
- Zemītis, J., Lūsis, J., Borodiņecs, A., Prozuments, A. Report on Study Findings Regarding Pollution Levels in Indoor Shooting Ranges and Ventilation System Design to Limit Them. In: Proceedings of the 4th International Conference on Building Energy & Environment 2018, Australia, Melbourne, 5–9 February 2018. Melbourne: RMIT University, 2018, pp. 121–126. ISBN 978-0-646-98213-7.

- Borodiņecs, A., Zemītis, J., Dobelis, M., Kaļinka, M., Prozuments, A., Šteinerte, K. Modular Retrofitting Solution of Buildings based on 3D Scanning. Procedia Engineering, 2017, Vol. 205, pp. 160–166. ISSN 1877-7058. Available from: doi:10.1016/j.proeng.2017.09.948
- 12. Prozuments, A., Borodiņecs, A. Indoor Air Stratification in Warm Air Supply Systems. ASHRAE Journal, 2017, Vol. 59, pp. 54–65. ISSN 0364-9962.
- Prozuments, A., Vanags, I., Borodinecs, A., Millers, R., Tumanova, K. A Study of the Passive Cooling Potential in Simulated Building in Latvian Climate Conditions. IOP Conference Series: Materials Science and Engineering, 2017, Vol. 251: 3rd International Conference on Innovative Materials, Structures and Technologies (IMST 2017), pp. 1–8. ISSN 1757-8981. Available from: doi:10.1088/1757-899X/251/1/012052
- Prozuments, A., Borodiņecs, A., Strutinska, D., Nefedova, A., Bykova, J. Survey-based Study on Sportsmen Performance under Different Air Parameters in Sport Halls. In: CLIMA 2016 – proceedings of the 12th REHVA World Congress, Denmark, Aalborg, 22–25 May 2016. Aalborg: Aalborg University, Department of Civil Engineering, 2016, pp. 1–8. e-ISBN 87-91606-32-2.
- Zajacs, A., Zemītis, J., Prozuments, A., Tihomirova, K., Borodiņecs, A. Sustainable City Development: Implementation Practices in Riga. Applied Mechanics and Materials, 2015, Vol. 725–726, pp. 1470–1476. ISSN 1662-7482.

Available from: doi:10.4028/www.scientific.net/AMM.725-726.1470

- 16. Prozuments A., Borodinecs A. Testing the use of an active chilled beam technology in a hospital ward mock-up. REHVA journal, Vol. 2015, No. 08, pp. 49–52, May 2015.
- Prozuments, A., Zemītis, J., Borodiņecs, A. Prevention of the Indoor Air Stratification in Warm Air Supply Systems. In: Proceedings of the 9th International Symposium on Heating, Ventilation and Air Conditioning and the 3rd International Conference on Building Energy and Environment, China, Tianjin, 12–15 July 2015. Tianjin: 2015, pp. 1– 8. ISBN 978-194327809-1.
- Zemītis, J., Borodiņecs, A., Prozuments, A. Passive Use of Solar Energy in Double Skin Facades for Reduction of Cooling Loads. In: Proceedings of World Renewable Energy Forum (WREF 2012), United States of America, Denver, 13 May – 17 Jul., 2012. Denver: American Solar Energy Society, 2012, pp. 1–6. ISBN 978-1-938547-04-1.
- Prozuments, A., Borodiņecs, A. The Optimal Operating Range of VAV Supply Units. In: ASHRAE/REHVA/SCANVAC Seventh International Cold Climate HVAC Conference Proceedings, Canada, Calgary, 12–14 November 2012. Calgary: 2012, pp. 265–270.

### REFERENCES

- [1] European Union, "The 28 member countries of the EU," *Europa.eu*, 2020. [Online]. Available: https://europa.eu/european-union/about-eu/countries\_en#tab-0-1.
- [2] E. D. 2012/27/EU, "EU Parliament, Directive 2012/27/EU of the European Parliament and of the Council of 25 October 2012 on energy efficiency, amending Direc- tives 2009/125/EC and 2010/30/EU and repealing Directives 2004/8/EC and 2006/32/EC Text with EEA relevance," 2012.
- [3] EUBD, "European Buildings Database; https://ec.europa.eu/energy/en/eu-buildingsdatabase," 2017.
- [4] D. Bosseboeuf, "Energy Efficiency Trends and Policies in the Household and Tertiary Sectors," no. June, p. 97, 2015.
- [5] A. Borodinecs, A. Kreslins, and E. Dzelzitis, "General Requirements for the Energy Performance of Buildings in Latvia," in *Clima 2007 WellBeing Indoors*, 2007.
- [6] A. Ozolins and A. Jakovics, "Risks of condensate formation and mould growth in buildings under Latvian climate conditions," *Earth Relat. Environ. Sci. Environ. Eng.*, 2013.
- [7] J. Zemitis and A. Borodinecs, "Indoor Air Quality in Multi-Storey Apartment Buildings after Refurbishment," in *5th International Scientific Conference "Civil Engineering* '15," 2015.
- [8] H. L. Kangas, D. Lazarevic, and P. Kivimaa, "Technical skills, disinterest and nonfunctional regulation: Barriers to building energy efficiency in Finland viewed by energy service companies," *Energy Policy*, vol. 114, no. December 2017, pp. 63–76, 2018.
- [9] N. Aste, P. Caputo, M. Buzzetti, and M. Fattore, "Energy efficiency in buildings: What drives the investments? the case of Lombardy Region," *Sustain. Cities Soc.*, vol. 20, pp. 27–37, 2016.
- [10] P. Lazzeroni *et al.*, "Energy efficiency measures for buildings in Hebron city and their expected impacts in the distribution grid," *Energy Procedia*, vol. 134, pp. 121–130, 2017.
- [11] G. Di Foggia, "Energy efficiency measures in buildings for achieving sustainable development goals," *Heliyon*, vol. 4, no. 11, p. e00953, 2018.
- [12] M. Alam *et al.*, "Government championed strategies to overcome the barriers to public building energy efficiency retrofit projects," *Sustain. Cities Soc.*, vol. 44, no. September 2018, pp. 56–69, 2019.
- [13] "EPBD," 2018.
- [14] A. Prozuments, I. Vanags, A. Borodinecs, R. Millers, and K. Tumanova, "A study of the passive cooling potential in simulated building in Latvian climate conditions," *IOP Conf. Ser. Mater. Sci. Eng.*, vol. 251, no. 1, 2017.
- [15] A. Borodinecs, A. Prozuments, J. Zemitis, D. Zajecs, and G. Bebre, "Hydrothermal performance of the external wooded frame wall structure reinforced with ballistic panels," in *E3S Web of Conferences*, 2020, vol. 172.

- [16] Minister of Economic Affairs and Communications, "Methodology for calculating the energy performance of buildings," 2014.
- [17] "LV EN ISO 13790:2009 'Energy performance of buildings Calculation of energy use for space heating and cooling."
- [18] A. Prozuments, A. Kim, and A. Borodinecs, "Evaluation of the Building Stock Thermal Performance under Various Building Code Compliance Scenarios: The Case of Latvia," in *Construction Research Congress 2020*, 2020.
- [19] L. Belussi *et al.*, "A review of performance of zero energy buildings and energy efficiency solutions," *J. Build. Eng.*, vol. 25, no. December 2018, 2019.
- [20] S. Wang, A. A. Kim, and D. A. Reed, "Embedded Distribution Systems for Enhanced Energy Resilience," J. Sol. Energy Eng., vol. 139, no. February, pp. 1–9, 2017.
- [21] "EN ISO/TR 52003-2:2017 'Energy performance of buildings. Indicators, requirements, ratings and certificates."
- [22] A. Prozuments, A. Borodinecs, T. Odineca, and D. Nemova, "Long-Term Buildings" Space Heating Estimation Method," *Lect. Notes Civ. Eng.*, vol. 70, pp. 539–550, 2020.
- [23] A. Levesque, R. C. Pietzcker, and G. Luderer, "Halving energy demand from buildings: The impact of low consumption practices," *Technol. Forecast. Soc. Chang.*, vol. 146, no. April, pp. 253–266, 2019.
- [24] A. Borodinecs, A. Geikins, and A. Prozuments, "Energy consumption and retrofitting potential of Latvian unclassified buildings," in *Smart Innovation, Systems and Technologies*, 2020, vol. 163, pp. 319–326.
- [25] A. Prozuments, A. Borodinecs, and J. Zemitis, "Survey based evaluation of indoor environment in an administrative military facility," *J. Sustain. Archit. Civ. Eng.*, vol. 27, no. 2, pp. 96–107, 2020.
- [26] A. Prozuments, A. Borodinecs, and M. Krizmane, "A review study on specific requirements for refurbishment of military buildings in cold climates," *IOP Conf. Ser. Mater. Sci. Eng.*, vol. 660, no. 1, 2019.